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For the whole earth is the tomb of famous men; not only are they commemorated by columns and inscriptions in their own country, but in foreign lands there dwells also an unwritten memorial of them, graven not on stone but in the hearts of men. Make them your examples …
(From Pericles’ funeral oration for the Athenians)
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Prologue


On 27 June 1945, in a message to the men of the Royal Artillery of 21 Army Group, Field Marshal Sir Bernard Montgomery wrote:




I would like to pay a compliment to the gunners, and I would like this to be passed on to every gunner.


The gunners have risen to great heights in this war; they have been well commanded and well handled. In my experience the artillery has never been so efficient as it is today; it is at the top of its form. For all this I offer you my warmest congratulations.


The contribution of the artillery to final victory in the German war has been immense. This will always be so; the harder the fighting and the longer the war, the more the infantry, and in fact all the arms, lean on the gunners. The proper use of the artillery is a great battle-winning factor.


I think all the other arms have done very well too. But the artillery has been terrific and I want to give due weight to its contribution to the victory in this campaign.





Montgomery’s praise may have been directed specifically to the Gunners of his own command – 21 Army Group, which comprised Second (British) and First (Canadian) Armies – but it applied in equal measure to the Gunners in other theatres. Since 1833, the single battle honour of the Royal Regiment of Artillery has been Ubique – Everywhere – and that word rang as true as ever in the Second World War. Gunners had served in all the campaigns fought by the British armies in Europe, Africa and Asia as well as serving under Admiralty command on board ships plying the convoy routes that sustained Britain, and under RAF command in defence of Britain itself in the dangerous days of the blitz and in the V1 offensive of 1944–5. In every campaign, and in every role, they had indeed been terrific.


It would be impossible to tell the full story of the Royal Artillery’s wartime roles and achievements in one book and it is not the author’s intention to attempt so to do. Instead this book will seek to demonstrate the ubiquity of the Gunners, their efficiency and effectiveness, and their contribution to both local success and overall final victory by telling the stories of elements of the Royal Artillery’s experience in various theatres and using those stories to illustrate the critical importance of the Gunners.


Since the Royal Artillery was also the largest single element of the Army during the Second World War, comprising more than a quarter of its manpower when it peaked at about 700,000 in some 700 regiments and with almost as many personnel as the Royal Navy, this also compels the author to point the way to the bigger picture through the selective use of stories from various theatres and elements of the Royal Regiment. It may also be noted that the term ‘manpower’ is misleading: the Royal Artillery included women in many of its units. While these female soldiers were, strictly, not Gunners but members of the Auxiliary Territorial Service (ATS), those who served in the mixed regiments of Anti-Aircraft Command have been regarded as honorary gunners and have their own branch of the Royal Artillery Association.


The growth that led to the Royal Artillery becoming the Army’s largest element began before the war and reached a significant milestone with the doubling of the Territorial Army in early 1939. This occurred in the wake of the Munich crisis and following the German occupation of Memel when units of the TA were asked to form duplicates. On 30 March 1939, six days after the German takeover, the War Office announced its plan to double the size of the TA. However, there were no clear plans for equipping and training the new units.


However, that was not the only aspect of the burgeoning of the Royal Artillery in the 1930s. After several years of neglect, the anti-aircraft artillery arm of the regiment began to receive attention, and by the time war broke out in September 1939 Anti-Aircraft Command had been formed to provide the gun aspect of the air defence of Great Britain. The bulk of that work was to be performed by units of the Territorial Army. Included in AA Command were searchlight units which had previously been the responsibility of the Royal Engineers but which the Gunners began to take over in 1938. It was in the same year that dedicated anti-tank units began to appear in the order of battle which seems to have been a very belated acceptance of the role of tanks on the battlefield but may have been as much to do with government parsimony.


These changes not only swelled the ranks of the Royal Artillery but also made it a very diverse family, not only in terms of the many roles that the regiment would play in the Second World War but also in terms of the origins of many of its soldiers. We have already noted the presence of women soldiers from the ATS and former Sappers from the Royal Engineers but the inter-war period also saw a number of TA units from other arms re-roled as gunners. Thus Yeomanry units such as those of Leicestershire, Shropshire and South Nottinghamshire became Gunner regiments as did TA infantry units such as the City of London Rifles, the Finsbury Rifles and 1st Monmouthshire Regiment.1 In this new role they were joined by some war-formed infantry battalions, including 12th King’s, 7th Loyals and 8th Royal Ulster Rifles, which became, respectively, 101st, 92nd and 117th Light AA Regiments. Those units transferring from other arms were often given permission to retain the distinctions of their original regiments giving rise to the sight of Gunners wearing infantry cap badges and distinctions such as the black buttons of the Ulster Rifles.


The ability of the Royal Artillery to absorb such units and yet retain pride in their origins with different badges, buttons and flashes enriches the story of the Royal Regiment during the Second World War and makes its story all the more fascinating. It is the aim of this volume to tell something of that story with all its richness and variety, its tragedies and triumphs, its endeavours and achievements and in so doing show how valuable was the contribution of the Regiment to final victory.


Notes


1 As 154th (Leicestershire Yeomanry) Field Regiment, 76th (Shropshire Yeomanry) Medium Regiment, 107th (South Nottinghamshire Hussars Yeomanry) Regiment Royal Horse Artillery, 31st (City of London) Searchlight Regiment (formerly 31st Anti-Aircraft Bn, RE), 61st (Finsbury Rifles) AA Regiment and 1st (Rifle) Bn The Monmouthshire Regiment (68th SL Regiment).




Chapter One


Rumours of War


When the Great War ended the Royal Regiment of Artillery could reflect on having made a major contribution to Allied victory. Many lessons had been absorbed and gunnery had evolved greatly from the early days of war with the Gunners developing principles which survive to this day and which were put into effect during the Second World War. Not least of these was the principle of concentration of fire and speed in so doing, but there were others: there should be only one artillery commander at each level who must command all types of artillery allotted; gunner command and control must be linked directly to the tactical plan; operations without a fireplan are doomed to failure; artillery command must be well forward, and mobile. These were summarised by the late Sir Martin Farndale:




No other part of the Army can meet the severe demands of the principles of war as successfully as can the Gunners. Whether it be the persistent maintenance of the aim, day or night, in any weather or on any ground; the maintenance of morale by offensive action, which is the hallmark of all artillery operations; surprise – no Arm can produce surprise as can the Gunners; nothing is more surprising than the sudden, unexpected arrival of tons of high explosive on an unsuspecting target; no Arm can concentrate force as rapidly at one point on the battlefield, without the movement of its units, as can a divisional artillery correctly handled; a fundamental facet of the security of any position is an effective defensive fireplan; economy of effort cannot be better demonstrated, when needed, provided all guns are in range of the target; flexibility must be one of the most powerful characteristics of artillery, whether in method of attack, timing of attack or place of attack; no Arm relies so much on cooperation to achieve its aim. Alone it is effective but limited – with its comrades in the cavalry and infantry in full concert it is unbeatable; however, finally, without effective administration and, in particular, the provision of the weapon itself – the shell – it is useless.


But this is not all. Artillery command, control and communications must be second to none or all is lost. Battery commanders and forward observers without communications are useless. Guns out of contact with the battle are little more than mobile road blocks. In any operational plan the fireplan is paramount, for what is war but a gigantic fireplan? Artillery is flexible but is never unlinked to the main manoeuvre battle. It has never made, and must never make, the mistake of air-power which is totally flexible and, in the pursuit of flexibility, has disconnected itself from the operations of ground troops. Artillery must be kept clear of the manoeuvre battle but must remain an integral part of it.1





By 1919 the Royal Regiment was the world’s most professional artillery arm and faced the future with confidence. However, the 1920s became a decade of retrenchment as the Regiment reduced in size with the anti-aircraft element – built up so painstakingly in the late war – dismantled to leave but a single gun brigade2 and a searchlight battalion in the regular army; there were no AA units in the Territorial Army, re-formed in 1922, although the Territorial Force had provided a major element of the wartime strength of the artillery arm. Worse still, such had been the speed with which the War Office had run down the post-war Army that no evaluation of AA artillery, its tactics and the technical and logistic aspects of this field of gunnery had been made and thus no AA gunnery doctrine had been formulated while those with recent experience were still in service. Indeed, for six years there was no development at all in the field or, as Brigadier N W Routledge describes it, ‘there followed stagnation in the state of the art’.3


Unfortunately, this set the pattern for the inter-war years. The Army had to make do with what it had as the Treasury imposed the ‘ten-year rule’ which decreed that there would be no war in Europe for at least ten years. While this might have been fine had the rule been applied as a ‘one-off’ in 1919, it became a Treasury principle with a rolling ‘ten-year rule’ ensuring that the services remained short of funds until almost too late. Not until 1932 did the Cabinet abandon this rule. In the light of the history of the United Kingdom in the Second World War, it is worth noting that one of those who first promulgated the rule ‘that the British Empire will not be engaged in any great war during the next ten years, and that no expeditionary force is required for this purpose’, held the portfolios of War and Air. He was Winston S Churchill who, as Chancellor of the Exchequer in 1925 continued upholding the rule and used it to oppose plans to upgrade the Singapore naval base. In 1928 Churchill recommended that the rule ‘should now be laid down as a standing assumption that at any given date there will be no major war for ten years from that date’.4


Fortunately common sense prevailed in 1932. The rule was abandoned and investment began trickling into the services but there were many demands from all three services which could not be met immediately. Some investment in the Royal Regiment ensured that the bulk of the field artillery would be mechanised by 1939. New equipment was also funded, including that classic of field pieces, the 25-pounder, and the finest AA gun of the war, the 3.7. Since the size, diversity and range of roles of the Regiment meant that it sought a very large slice of the money available to the Army, it is appropriate to review the contemporary organisation of the Royal Artillery.


The division into Royal Field Artillery and Royal Garrison Artillery had been abandoned in 1924. (As if to add confusion, the Royal Horse Artillery was the corps d’elite of the Royal Field Artillery while the Honourable Artillery Company, a TA unit, also belongs to the regimental family.) However, it was decided that, once again, the Regiment should be split into two branches: Field Army and Coast Defence and Anti-Aircraft. The former included units designated as field brigades – later regiments – as well as medium, mountain and anti-tank units plus 1st Heavy Brigade, a survey company and section, and both mountain and medium units of the Hong Kong and Singapore Royal Artillery (HKSRA) while the latter took responsibility for coast defence and AA artillery, all heavy brigades and batteries other than 1st Heavy Brigade, home fixed defences and fire commands, and the AA and coast defence elements of the HKSRA. The paired functions of coast defence and AA were further divided into twin elements. Coast artillery included close defence guns and counter-bombardment guns with the former using automatic sights that measured and set target ranges while the latter carried out longer range tasks. In the AA role there were heavy and light guns, the former deploying against high-flying targets and the latter against low-flying aircraft. (Searchlights, a Royal Engineer responsibility before the war, would be transferred to the Royal Artillery.) To complicate matters further, light AA units would also be assigned to the Field Army, initially at corps and later at divisional level. This re-organisation took effect in 1938, the creation of the Coast Defence and Anti-Aircraft branch having received Royal approval on 30 March.5


Also in 1938 a re-organisation of artillery units saw the lieutenant colonel’s command redesignated from brigade to regiment.6 The most important fire unit continued to be the battery to which, of course, Gunners owe their first loyalty. However, the new organisation established a field regiment of two twelve-gun batteries whereas field brigades had had four six-gun batteries. In regular regiments this led to a pairing of batteries so as to maintain the traditions of every battery: thus, for example, 19th Field Brigade’s 29, 39, 96 and 97 Batteries became 19th Field Regiment’s 29/39 and 96/97 Batteries.7 Royal Horse Artillery units were also re-organised; the three RHA brigades became 1st, 2nd and 3rd Regiments RHA but since the original brigades had included three six-gun batteries, the new organisation was achieved by withdrawing E Battery from India – linked with A Battery it joined 1st Regiment – and redesignating two onetime RHA batteries, H (Ramsay’s Troop) and P (The Dragon Troop), which had been in 8th Field Regiment and 21st Anti-Tank Regiment respectively. In the RHA, batteries were divided into two six-gun troops, thus allowing the troop to maintain the identity of the battery it had formerly been. A proposal that the twelve-gun unit should be styled a ‘battalion’ with the term ‘battery’ retained for the six-gun unit came to nothing.8


For the Territorial Army the effect was not so traumatic as re-organisation coincided with the decision to double the TA. Thus each TA field regiment could throw off two batteries to form a duplicate unit; 60th (North Midland) Field Regiment’s second and fourth batteries – 238 and 240 – became 115th Field Regiment RA (North Midland) (TA), a pattern repeated across the TA throughout Great Britain.9 Medium, heavy, coast and anti-aircraft regiments did not suffer to the same extent as field units, apart from some pairing of regular medium batteries.


Field batteries were now divided into three troops, each of four guns, with command posts at both battery and troop. A battery command post was manned by the command post officer (CPO) with the necessary assistants, telephonists and radio-operators, a format mirrored at troop level with the officer in charge being the gun position officer (GPO). On active service the battery commander (BC), a major, would have his own HQ with that of the infantry unit he was supporting; if he was not present himself then he would have an officer representing him but this would have been the exception rather than the rule. He would also have established observation posts (OPs) at locations from which possible targets could be seen clearly. In addition, forward-observation officers (FOOs) would deploy with advanced infantry units or elements of such units. These FOOs, whose role proved critical on many occasions during the war, could initiate engagement of any enemy target by sending fire orders to the GPOs over landline telephone or wireless; alternatively, signal lamps, flags, semaphore or heliograph might be used. During the 1930s the first steps were also taken in using air observation with RAF pilots trained to pass observations by coded radio messages to CPOs or GPOs. This would develop into the aerial observation post (AOP) system that proved invaluable in the war years.


Of course, information or fire orders passed back from FOOs, OPs or AOPs had to be checked by the GPO and allowances made for variables such as wind speed and temperature or uneven spacing of the guns of the battery or troop. To this end, the GPO’s assistant (the GPO Ack) used the artillery board, a portable table with a squared chart on which were marked the gun position as well as the target positions. It will be recognised that Gunner officers needed scientific training and a solid grasp of mathematics. Alongside officers of the Royal Engineers, Royal Signals and Royal Tank Corps, they were trained at ‘the Shop’, the Royal Military Academy at Woolwich, the home of the Royal Artillery, rather than at the Royal Military College, Sandhurst where infantry and cavalry officers underwent training.


Throughout most of the interwar period, the Royal Artillery’s guns were those with which it had fought the Great War. Some weapons, already obsolescent by armistice, were no longer suitable for a modern artillery arm by the early 1930s. But modernisation came painfully slowly as the Gunners jostled in the queue for the funds that began to come from the Treasury in that decade. As late as 1936 a senior officer could comment that current heavy artillery equipments ‘are out of date in their ballistics’ and ‘cumbersome in their method of progression’. Perhaps the classic case of a completely outdated weapon was the 9.2-in howitzer which, weighing in at 21 tons, could be moved only in three loads and took about five hours to bring into action. This was hardly a weapon with which to fight a modern war. A new split-trail 7.85-inch howitzer had been proposed; this would weigh 14–15 tons, was more mobile and could come into action in under thirty minutes.10


The quest for new heavy weapons led to information being sought on equivalents in the armies of Germany, France, Italy, the USSR and the USA while the Chief of the Imperial General Staff (CIGS), the Army’s professional head, showed interest in the 7.85-inch howitzer proposal, as well as a 10-inch howitzer and a 6.85-inch gun. The Director of Artillery added a 6-inch gun capable of firing a 112lb shell over a range of 30,000 yards. By May 1939, Vickers Armstrong had received specifications for two new heavy projects: a 9.2-inch howitzer, really a re-working of the older equipment, and a 6-inch gun, designated Mk XXIII.11 The 9.2-inch howitzer proposal came to naught and when it became clear that this was a ‘sterile exercise’ it was decided to modify yet another Great War veteran equipment: the 8-inch howitzer was to be re-lined to increase its range from 12,400 to 15,500 yards. This became the 7.2-inch howitzer, mounted on a modified 8-inch carriage – later it was fitted to a modern American carriage – which could fire a 200lb shell to 16,900 yards and which saw widespread service beginning in the North African campaign.12


This almost leisurely pace had already caused concern with the Director of Artillery writing to the Director of Staff Duties at the War Office on 3 March 1937 to state that he was ‘disturbed about lack of progress with our New Heavy Artillery piece. Time slips away and then we are rushed.’ He then quoted ‘from my own experience’ three examples of the time it took to bring new projects to fruition: the 25-pounder had taken five years of discussion, as had the 3.7-inch anti-aircraft gun, while the 2-pounder anti-aircraft gun had taken two years.13


That Gunners had been considering the deployment of their heavy equipments on the mainland yet again was illustrated by requests to the military attachés in the embassies in Paris and Brussels, in October 1936, for information on whether bridges in northern France and Belgium could support heavy artillery. In both cases the responses were positive: for France maps were provided showing suitable routes while for Belgium it was believed that all bridges on first-class roads could carry heavy artillery.14 While this investigation showed commendable foresight, it might also be interpreted as suggesting that a future war would develop on lines similar to the previous conflict.


The typical heavy artillery unit that was expected to use those bridges should war erupt again in Europe was still designated a heavy brigade and would remain so until 1 November 1938 when it would become a heavy regiment. However, the change in designation did not affect the order of battle: a heavy brigade/regiment included four batteries each deploying six weapons; these were a battery of 8-inch howitzers, firing a 200lb shell over a range of 12,400 yards, two batteries of 9.2-inch howitzers, firing a 290lb shell over 13,000 yards, and a battery of 6-inch Mk XIX guns, with a range of 18,750 yards at 38 degrees elevation, firing a 100lb shell.15


Although it only began re-equipping with some of its new guns by the end of 1938, the Royal Regiment had passed one major milestone: the mechanisation of the bulk of its field artillery. The iconic vehicle of the new era was the Morris-Commercial Quad, subsequently the principal towing vehicle for the new 25-pounder field gun. However, the Quad, a four-wheel-drive vehicle, was designed originally by Guy Motors who produced such a unique shape that, with its metal covering, many believed that the vehicle was bullet-proof. In fact, it was not even splinter-proof; the shape had been designed for ease of washing down after exposure to poison gas;16 since gas had been used in the Great War, it was expected that it would be deployed again. Later in the war the Quad was also used to tow the 17-pounder anti-tank gun.17


Between the wars there had been much experimentation with gun tractors, including tracked vehicles, one of which, the Light Dragon, led to the various carriers that saw widespread service with the Army during the Second World War.18 Some Dragons remained in Gunner service in 1939 and went to France with the British Expeditionary Force; these were Mk IIs, used mainly to tow guns of the newly-formed anti-tank units. When Royal Horse Artillery brigades were mechanised in 1936 the vehicle adopted was the Dragon.19 Other gun-towing vehicles included four- and six-wheel lorries from companies such as AEC, Bedford, Guy and Scammell. When war was declared on 3 September 1939 Britain’s army was the most mechanised in the world. But what of the guns towed by Royal Artillery vehicles?


During the Great War the standard field gun had been the 18-pounder alongside which had been operated the 4.5-inch howitzer. Both were replaced by the 25-pounder which was designed as a gun/howitzer. In other words, it could fire in both the ‘lower’ and ‘upper’ registers: the barrel could be elevated above 45 degrees. However, the first of the 25-pounder family were 18-pounders fitted with re-bored barrels of 87.5mm calibre and with carriages adapted for pneumatic tyres to allow the equipments to be towed at higher speeds by petrol- or diesel-engined vehicles. These re-bored guns were designated Ordnance QF 25-pounder Mk I; about 1,000 were produced. However, this 18/25-pounder was an interim equipment and the true 25-pounder, the Ordnance QF 25-pounder Mk II, was being developed simultaneously. Commenting that few Second World War weapons resulted from clearly defined requirements from the General Staff, Shelford Bidwell pointed out that they were either civil inventions, such as radar, ‘or largely unprompted “doodles” by the technical staff, like the 25-pounder, the child of an unblessed liaison between the technical staff and the School of Artillery’.20


Initially this new design incorporated a split trail, and the first order was for guns to this design, but the Inspector Royal Artillery approached the Director of Artillery ‘to say there was a strong feeling in the Regiment’ that the weapon should have a ‘box-trail-cum-platform’.21 This would allow the higher elevations of a howitzer, and could traverse through 360 degrees, thanks to a circular platform specified by the Royal Artillery Committee. This platform resembled an old-fashioned cartwheel fitted with toeplates which dug into the ground; the gun could be towed onto the platform in seconds and fixed by tie-rods. The recommendation for the box trail was accepted and was a principal factor in the gun’s success. Such was that success that the 25-pounder served the Royal Artillery not only throughout the Second World War but for many years thereafter, finally going out of service in 1967. (However, it continued to be used for ceremonial duties and was last used in action by British troops at Mirbat in Oman in 1972 when SAS troops used an Omani army 25-pounder.) It also served in a variety of roles and was adapted as a self-propelled weapon as well as being the standard field gun in Commonwealth and Imperial forces. When the BEF went to France in late 1939 many field regiments were still equipped with 18-pounders and 4.5-inch howitzers although some included both 18-pounders and 18/25-pounders.22 Not until April 1940 was the first 25-pounder Mk II issued; these went to Royal Canadian Artillery units in Britain. Later that month, and in early May, Mk IIs of 203 Battery 51st Field Regiment went into action in Norway in the 25-pounder’s baptism of fire.23


Medium regiments continued with the 6-inch howitzer and 60-pounder gun. The former dated from 1915 while the latter was even older with an ancestry going back to 1904, although it had been updated by Vickers Armstrong in 1918 with a new carriage, improved breech mechanism and a piece that was five calibres longer. Replacements for both equipments were on their way but the 6-inch howitzer and 60-pounder had to soldier on until the new weapons arrived.24 In the case of the 60-pounder, it could be said that the old gun replaced itself as the barrel was relined to 4.5 inches and its carriage fitted with pneumatic tyres. Attempts to modify the 6-inch gun in like fashion were unsuccessful and a new weapon was developed to fire an 80lb shell to 18,500 yards; this became the 5.5-inch medium gun which would enter service in North Africa and see its last action in Borneo in 1964.25


In the heavy regiments there was yet another ancient weapon. The 6-inch gun – adapted in 1915 from a design dating back to the Boer War – had been built in small numbers, with little more than a hundred produced for British service.26 Three heavy regiments went to France with the BEF and left behind all their 6-inch guns. Their other equipments were 8- and 9.2-inch howitzers, most of which were also left behind.27 Although these weapons were of little value in modern warfare, some limited use was made of the 6-inch gun in the Middle East while the 8-inch howitzer provided the stepping stone to the 7.2-inch howitzer; the 9.2 was last used as an anti-invasion weapon on England’s south-east coast. Also in the BEF order of battle were three super-heavy batteries, equipped with 9.2- and 12-inch howitzers, the latter an enlarged version of the former. The 12-inch howitzer also ended its career as an anti-invasion weapon.28


Anti-tank regiments were receiving a weapon that, when approved on 1 January 1936, was probably the best anti-tank gun in any army; its 2lb armour-piercing (AP) shot could penetrate 42mm of armour, sloped at 30 degrees, at a range of 1,000 yards. Sadly, by 1940 the gun was no longer the best, but it had to soldier on for some time yet. Not surprisingly, there were insufficient 2-pounders to equip the BEF’s anti-tank regiments and 37mm anti-tank guns had to be bought from the Swedish firm of Bofors. The 2-pounder was a light gun – its weight in action was 1,757 lbs – on a three-legged mounting that allowed an all-round traverse. Its semi-automatic breech mechanism gave a high rate of fire and it was fitted with an excellent telescope sight. Although capable of dealing with early German and Italian tanks, it was soon outclassed and its high profile made it hard to conceal, allowing enemy tanks to stay out of range while shelling the gun and killing its detachment.29


Although anti-tank regiments received a gun on the verge of obsolescence, this was not the case with their comrades in anti-aircraft units where two remarkable equipments were reaching front-line units as the final months of peace faded. These were the Vickers Armstrong-designed 3.7-inch heavy anti-aircraft gun, ‘an extremely advanced weapon for its time’30 and the Swedish Bofors 40mm light anti-aircraft gun. Although there were other AA weapons, such as the 4.5-inch heavy AA gun, the 3.7 and the Bofors were to be the principal British AA equipments of the war and the former can be regarded, with no trace of chauvinism, as the best gun in its class in the world – and that includes the German 88mm.


Coast artillery units operated some of the Army’s oldest equipments. The 12-pounder dated back to 1894, when it began life as a naval gun for close defence against light, fast craft while the 4.7-inch gun had entered naval service in 1887 and joined the Army in the 1890s, but both were beaten in terms of age by the 6-inch coast gun which began life as the 80-pounder as far back as 1882.31 There was also the twin 6-pounder coast gun which mounted two 6-pounders – a weapon also dating to the 1880s but superseded as a solo weapon by the 12-pounder by the 1920s when it was relegated to training and practice – with semi-automatic breeches and a rate of fire per barrel of 40 rounds each minute. These were intended for harbour defence, a role in which they proved themselves beyond doubt when the Italian navy, the Regia Marina, attacked Malta’s Valetta harbour in July 1941, an incident outlined later in this book.32


It was therefore with a mixed bag of weaponry that the Royal Artillery entered the Second World War. Some of its guns were new and excellent, some were old and in need of replacement and, in the case of the 2-pounder anti-tank gun, at least one was new and already almost outdated. Irrespective of the quantity or quality of the guns available in September 1939, the Regiment had one great advantage over the rest of the Army – it was the best trained of all the arms. One Gunner historian has argued that its standard of training was unsurpassed in any army.33


This training regime was a result of the many lessons absorbed from the Great War, which also led to the abolition of the distinction between field and garrison artillery in 1924. Four years earlier, the School of Artillery had been established at Larkhill, quickly becoming the nerve centre of the Regiment although its soul remained at Woolwich. The School’s role was to teach instructors by selecting officers and NCOs from throughout the Regiment to attend the long Gunnery Staff Course and qualify to become Instructors in Gunnery, or IGs. Thus was created the ‘Gunnery Staff’, a body unique to the Royal Artillery, with the role of ensuring that high standards were achieved consistently across the Regiment. It was the IGs’ duty ‘to go wherever the units of the Royal Artillery were stationed like missionaries and propagate the gospel according to Larkhill. In India there was a subsidiary School, at first at Kakul near Abbotabad, and later at Deolali.’34


New regimes are rarely popular initially, and so it was with the IGs but their value soon became apparent as these zealots from Larkhill descended on units that were carrying out their regular training to observe in detail all that happened. Departures from official drills were commented upon, as were any miscalculations. In time, this led to a uniform doctrine throughout the Regiment which proved of great benefit in the war years. Larkhill not only produced IGs; it also played a major part in training newly-commissioned Gunner officers. From 1926 all subalterns were sent to Larkhill from Woolwich to undertake the Young Officers’ Course. No longer was the training of new Gunner officers left to the vagaries of their seniors when they joined their batteries.35 Larkhill and the YOs’ Course ensured uniform training in the service of the gun.


In his seminal work Gunners at War, Shelford Bidwell noted that the School of Artillery:




was apt to disapprove of or pour cold water on innovations [and] … remained insulated from and indifferent to the dynamic thinking going on in the new Royal Tank Corps: no one attending the School in the early thirties would have guessed that a violent military storm was raging outside its walls, or that tanks existed. There was a tragic failure to build a bridge between the old arm and the new. Nevertheless, the School made an immense contribution to the Regiment and thereby to the Army as a whole.36





Who knows what innovations might have stemmed from a close link between Gunners and the Royal Tank Corps? Perhaps self-propelled artillery, both field and anti-tank, might have made an earlier appearance, although it has to be noted that the Regiment experimented with a self-propelled field gun, the Birch gun (an 18-pounder mounted on a tracked body), and 9th Field Brigade’s 20 Battery formed part of the Experimental Mechanised Force with such SPGs. The Birch gun, named for General Birch, then Master General of the Ordnance, began life as a turret-fitted 18-pounder mounted on a tracked body developed from the Medium Mk I tank which proved deficient in a number of ways including low power-to-weight ratio and restricted gun traverse and elevation. Thus the concept was modified to a pedestal-mounted 18-pounder fitted to the turret ring and protected by a shield.37 The Experimental Mechanised Force was created in May 1927 and disbanded, prematurely, a year later. No development of SPGs followed. For the Gunners the experiment was not entirely propitious as the 18-pounder was insufficiently flexible to provide an effective close support weapon for a mechanised force. In fact, the end result of the experiments, the 1929 training manual entitled Mechanised and Armoured Formations and its 1931 revised edition, Modern Formations, made no mention of artillery in the close support role which was allotted to a ‘close support tank battery’. Although no close support tank existed at the time, it was implied that, when it did come into service, it would be manned by the Royal Tank Corps rather than the Royal Artillery.38 Nothing makes clearer that ‘tragic failure’ to bring together in harmony the Gunners and the Tankers.


Not until the North African campaign were further efforts made to provide a self-propelled gun with the resulting compromise a 25-pounder mounted on a Cruiser tank. As with all compromises, it lost something from both aspects: the 25-pounder’s performance was restricted and the low silhouette of the mated tank – the Valentine – disappeared to produce Bishop. Ironically, the experiments with a mobile or armoured division had presaged quite closely the mid-war composition of an armoured division, but the latter was arrived at, eventually, by dint of painful experience in action. In the post-war era, one Gunner historian was prompted to comment on




the curious blind spot in the minds of military technicians, who followed with painstaking alacrity the gun-versus-armour conflict but pondered two years of warfare’s bitterest lessons before they managed to provide artillerymen with the protection of self-propelled guns.39





By 1939 the Gunners were much more mobile than ever and determined to prove their worth. While the doubling of the TA so close to the outbreak of war created many problems for trainers and logisticians, as well as weapon manufacturers, there was a quiet confidence in the Royal Regiment that, once again, there would be a job well done.
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Chapter Two


First Blood


At 11.15am on Sunday 3 September 1939, Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain broadcast to the nation. In tired tones, he told listeners that Germany had ignored a Franco-British ultimatum to withdraw from Poland, which it had invaded on the 1st, and, therefore, the United Kingdom was at war with Germany.


Gunners were already prepared for action throughout the United Kingdom and there is a claim that the first British shot of the war was from 188 (Antrim) Heavy Battery when it ‘fired across the bows of an incoming vessel on the morning of 3rd September 1939, some three hours before war was declared’.1 However, this is contradicted in the authoritative account of Ulster’s coast defences which describes how at ‘08.15 hours on 5 September the small coasting steamer SS E Hayward entered the [Belfast] lough quite unaware that war had been declared with Germany’ and that one plugged (no explosive filling) round was fired. This statement is based on the war diary for the 5th which states that at 0815 ‘Steamer E Hayward brought to by firing plugged shell across her bows’.2 This was the sole occasion on which Grey Point’s guns fired in anything resembling anger. The quiet war of 188 Battery which, with the newly-created 200 Battery, formed the Antrim Heavy Regiment RA from 1 March 1940, was not to be the experience of many of their Royal Artillery comrades.


Arguably the first true shots in anger were fired by 71st (Forth) Anti-Aircraft Regiment on 16 October. The regiment had deployed to protect the Forth bridge and detachments were undergoing gun drill when German aircraft were spotted. In the ensuing action the guns and RAF fighters shot down two aircraft, the first two enemy planes shot down by British forces during the war. The guns of 71st (Forth) AA Regiment could, therefore, claim to have been the first British guns to fire on the enemy.3


Most regiments had begun mobilising on 1 September although some, especially AA units, were already at war stations. Lord Gort of Limerick VC was told that he was to command the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) which would cross to France to support the French armies against German aggression. The creation of the BEF in March 1939 had marked a reversal of British policy for the Army, which hitherto had been seen as defending the UK, imperial policing, protecting overseas’ possessions and ports, and dealing with a second-class Middle Eastern power. Although it was intended that the BEF would include nineteen divisions, to the chagrin of the French this would take more than a year to accomplish; only 1st and 2nd Divisions were ready to cross the Channel at the beginning of September. Making up I Corps, under Lieutenant General Sir John Dill, these began moving to France within days.4 However, it was not until 22 September that the main bodies of both began to move.5 I Corps’ Gunner complement included six field regiments, under the Corps Commander Royal Artillery (CCRA), Brigadier F H N Davidson. In 1st Division, whose Commander Royal Artillery (CRA) was Brigadier C W P Perceval, were 2nd, 19th and 67th Field Regiments while 2nd Division deployed 10th, 16th and 99th (Royal Buckinghamshire Yeomanry) Field Regiments with Brigadier C B Findlay as CRA. Of these six regiments, 67th Field, a South Midland TA unit, had not completed training and did not cross to France until January 1940.6


II Corps, under Lieutenant General Sir Alan Brooke, a distinguished Gunner, followed I Corps and began moving into the line on 12 October. Composed of 3rd and 4th Divisions, it also deployed six field regiments: 7th, transferred from 5th Division, 33rd and the TA 76th (Highland) were in 3rd Division with Brigadier R H Towell as CRA while 4th Division included 22nd, 30th and 77th (Highland) under Brigadier G E W Franklyn; Brigadier E C A Schreiber was CCRA. Once again the field artillery was not complete in France until January 1940.7 In all, the planned Gunner complement of the initial BEF included twenty field regiments, seven medium, four light AA, three AA (the designation HAA had yet to be introduced), one heavy regiment and two light AA batteries.8 Field regiments were equipped with 18-pounders and 4.5-inch howitzers in the case of the TA units or 18/25-pounders in the Regulars while most other regiments had vintage equipment, save for the Bofors 40mm guns equipping some light AA units.


While the allocation of three field regiments to a division gave each brigade a supporting field regiment, the two-battery composition did not permit a battery to be assigned to each battalion. This situation was exacerbated by the fact that, at battery level, there were only two groups of Gunner commanders for an infantry brigade, leaving one battalion bereft of artillery command and control, ‘a most serious omission’. How had this come about? Quite simply, the two-battery structure had been selected because it had been considered that the survey process to make three eight-gun batteries ready to fire together in a fast-moving situation would have taken too long. Thus it was decided to survey one battery and pass the resulting data to the other. Although faster, this created the undesirable operational situation that we have noted. Eventually, this problem would be eliminated through adopting a three-battery organisation but in the meantime it was alleviated, to some extent, by the availability of army field regiments, several of which were held at corps level and which the CCRA could deploy to reinforce divisions as necessary.9


Throughout the autumn and winter the BEF increased its strength and built defensive positions in its assigned sector. That sector, which was to be held by two field armies – First and Second – by summer 1940,10 was along the Belgian frontier where the Maginot Line, the French defensive system, did not extend. British troops did much digging and building to create what was dubbed the Gort Line. Weather conditions were atrocious that winter, one of the region’s worst, making construction tasks even more difficult. It also created problems for the BEF’s training programme, especially since training standards following such a speedy mobilisation were not as high as was necessary. Thus war diaries tell of treacherous road conditions, of sharp frosts and frozen ground, and of the quagmire following the thaw. The latter led the French authorities to impose ‘thaw precautions’ to preserve their roads; 75th (Highland) Field Regiment noted that it was unable to move for ‘at least two days’ as a result.11 At one stage, nocturnal temperatures were so low that vehicles had to be kept ‘running all night to prevent them from freezing up’.12 While training was carried out by the artillery, realism could not be achieved due to a French ban on using radios, even for training. This resulted, as might be expected, in ‘an almost total communication failure’ whereas allowing signallers to train might have ensured much better command, control and communications in the fluid days of May 1940.13


As the BEF grew so additional Gunner units arrived, including field, medium and heavy regiments. Air defences were not neglected and would grow to include six AA brigades: 1, 2, 3 (Ulster), 4, 5 and 12 AA Brigades.14 These deployed eleven heavy AA regiments – still defined as AA regiments as the HAA definition was not adopted until May 1940 – as well as four light AA regiments, four searchlight regiments, four non-regimented heavy AA batteries and two non-regimented light AA batteries. In addition, three light AA regiments were serving as corps troops and a combined light AA/anti-tank regiment arrived with 1st Armoured Division. Anti-tank units were arriving with their parent divisions although most TA units, and some Regulars, had the French Hotchkiss 25mm guns, carried on 15cwt trucks; Regular units using the Hotchkiss included the four batteries (36, 61, 68 and 88) of 14th Anti-Tank Regiment in 4th Division.15


Although Germany and the USSR overran Poland quickly, the Germans did not turn their attention immediately to the west. A lengthy period in which Wehrmacht forces were transferred from the eastern front in preparation for the assault on France became known as the ‘Phoney War’ or ‘Sitzkrieg’. This was not a period of inactivity for the BEF in which, as we have noted, training and preparation continued apace. Gunners trained with their equipments, to get to know the area of front on which they would be fighting and to refine operational procedures, often under the watchful eyes of IGs.


Among Gunner roles was the protection of the bases of the Advanced Air Striking Force (AASF);16 this was undertaken by 12 AA Brigade. One Royal Air Force responsibility was army co-operation but, in 1939–40, this was an area in which the air element was weak. The principal army co-operation aircraft, the Westland Lysander, was a slow, single-engined, high-winged monoplane, five squadrons of which were included in the BEF’s Air Component. The Lysander proved of little value in battle, although it later created a unique niche in special duties. Thus the Army had no eyes of its own and no airborne striking power in contrast to the German forces where the Luftwaffe co-operated closely with ground forces and provided airborne artillery. However, the CIGS, General Ironside, a Gunner, had produced a paper on Army/Air co-operation which went to the Cabinet on 25 September 1939. In response the Cabinet ‘stressed the need for the Army to have control over its own aircraft requirements’. This was followed by a War Office affirmation of the need for ‘a new type of light aeroplane to improve the application of artillery fire to be piloted by Army officers especially trained for this work.’17


From this was born the Royal Artillery Air Observation Posts which proved so valuable later in the war. Several Gunner officers had already devoted much time and effort to developing air observation in the pre-war years. Prominent among them was Jack Parham who, writing in the Royal United Services Institute (RUSI) Journal in August 1933, had noted how a battery commander had to call on a distant RAF unit to help him should he wish to see a target out of sight behind a hill whereas ‘five minutes in the air above his own battery position – even a thousand feet up – would meet all his requirements’. Parham was thinking of an autogiro which could be based with the Gunner unit and flown by one of its officers; he himself was qualified to fly such a machine. Not until 1935 were trials authorised with RAF Lysanders but with Gunner officers as passengers, thus making it more difficult to spot and correct the fall of shot.18


Meanwhile, a small group of officers formed the Royal Artillery Flying Club in November 1934. Its president was the BRA Southern Command, Brigadier H R S Massy, later Director of Military Training from September 1938 until October 1939, with Captain Charles Bazeley as the secretary. The pair did much to work out the AOP concept with Gunners flying and observing. Bazeley transferred on secondment to the RAF in 1935, serving as an Army Co-operation pilot until 1940, during which time he presented the idea of what he described as Flying Observation Posts, ‘light aircraft manned by Gunners in direct contact with the guns at all times’ that would operate in conjunction with their ground-based colleagues; the aerial OPs would usually fly above the guns.19


Following trials supervised by the Schools of Artillery and Army Co-operation, it was agreed to develop flying OPs and, in summer 1939, discussions between the Deputy CIGS and Deputy Chief of the Air Staff accepted that a Gunner officer in an ‘Air OP’ was the ideal solution to the problem of artillery observation from the air. A simple, slow aeroplane, to remain RAF property, was necessary. Agreement was also reached on a scale of machines – twelve per corps – and trials began before the summer was out. Aeroplanes under trial included the American Taylorcraft, which was eventually manufactured by a British company, the British Mosscraft and another American product, the Stinson.20 However, this was not the end of the story: further trials were to be undertaken at Old Sarum in Wiltshire in early 1940 by D Flight RAF, a joint Royal Artillery/Royal Air Force unit commanded by the now-Major Bazeley. Four machines were assessed, a Taylorcraft and a Stinson from the USA, and a General Aircraft Cagnet and a Comper Fly from Britain. Trials included co-operation with French artillery at their ranges at Mailly, by which time D Flight was operating only a Stinson 105 and three Taylorcraft Ds. The American designs were the most promising and with a British company in Leicester licensed to build the Taylorcraft, this was the final choice.21 No operational trials were conducted in France. Although scheduled to begin on 9 May 1940, the German attack through the Low Countries on the 10th meant that the plan went into abeyance.


By the time the Germans launched their attack, Jack Parham was commanding 10th Field Regiment with 2nd Division in II Corps. The offensive meant that Gunners were fighting on two fronts on the continent: Norway and France. Already a month old, the Norwegian campaign saw several Gunner units involved under command of 6 AA Brigade, including 51st (London) and 82nd (Essex) AA Regiments, 55th (Devon) Light AA Regiment and HQ and 167 Battery 56th (East Lancashire) Light AA Regiment, 3 LAA Battery, 203 Field Battery (from 51st (Westmorland and Cumberland) Field Regiment) and 10 Army Observation Unit. In this short but vicious campaign those Gunner units played a significant role.22


The Norwegian campaign arose from a German naval desire for bases ‘for a fundamental improvement in our strategic and operational situation’ with the ice-free ports of Narvik and Trondheim the most desirable.23 A visit to Berlin by a former Norwegian defence minister, Vidkun Quisling, founder of a Nazi-style party, Nasjonal Samling, revived Hitler’s interest and led to Studie Nord, a study for the occupation of Norway by peaceful or other means.24 When HMS Cossack liberated Graf Spee’s prisoners from the supply ship Altmark in a Norwegian fjord on 16 February 1940, the incident probably focused Hitler’s mind on Norway and, on 1 March, he issued a formal order to occupy both Denmark and Norway. This did not happen immediately, although plans were drawn up with the Luftwaffe in a leading role; the initial attack would involve troops transported by air.


Britain was also concerned about Norway and especially about maintaining its neutrality. However, since intelligence suggested that the Germans intended to invade, it was decided to send an expeditionary force to assist the Norwegians as soon as the first Germans entered the country, or as soon as it became clear that invasion was imminent. In this Britain was supported by France and French troops were also assigned to the expeditionary force. On 2 April Hitler issued orders for Operation WESERÜBUNG, the invasion of Denmark and Norway, and five days later the Allied expeditionary force sailed for Norway. Then, on 9 April, German forces invaded both Denmark and Norway. With the former overrun in hours, the Germans could concentrate on Norway. Opposing forces were engaged at sea and the Kriegsmarine suffered heavily in the battle of Narvik. However, the small Norwegian forces were hard-pressed and the Luftwaffe controlled the skies. Within eight days German troops dominated southern Norway and when British troops of 148 Brigade arrived to join the defending Norwegians they were soon beaten by their foes who were better trained, better led and better equipped. Elements of two British brigades, 15 and 146, which landed near Namsos in mid-April had been evacuated by the beginning of May, leaving almost all central and southern Norway to the Germans.


The struggle continued in the north where the German commander, General Dietl, lost Narvik to a force of British, French and Polish troops. Dietl’s mountain troops had been deprived of their naval transport and logistic support by the Royal Navy and Narvik was in Allied hands by 28 May. By then, however, it had been decided to evacuate Norway and orders to that effect had been issued.


How had the Gunners fared during this brief campaign? As already noted, the Gunner contribution to the expeditionary force was 6 AA Brigade who went to Harstad but did not begin landing until 6 May. They were soon engaged heavily against Luftwaffe aircraft attacking ships in the fjord. Many barrages were put up and 152 AA Battery reported firing for four hours on one occasion. One unit had arrived earlier: 3 LAA Battery began disembarking at Harstad on 15 April and, next day, some of its guns were in action while still aboard the ships; BQMS Morgan claimed one enemy aircraft downed with a machine gun. Within a week the guns were deployed around the harbour and in action daily against Luftwaffe raids. Then came orders to detach guns for other tasks: 1st Troop was sent to Skaanland on the 27th and on 4 May two guns were ordered to Bardufoss airfield. Such were the road conditions that it took Lieutenant T S Wilkinson and his two guns some fourteen hours of digging and winching to reach their destination. Four days later, 2nd Troop left for Gratangen to provide AA defence for the French. By this time, 55th LAA Regiment had arrived at Harstad to defend the airfield and was ordered to detach a troop of 164 Battery to Skaanland. Those guns were in action next day, the 10th, the day on which the Germans invaded the Low Countries, and claimed a German aircraft shot down and its pilot captured. On 18 May, BHQ 164 Battery and eight of its guns were at Bardufoss defending the airfield when a squadron of sixteen Gloster Gladiator biplane fighters arrived. The Gladiators were followed by a squadron of fourteen Hawker Hurricanes on the 27th but the campaign was all but over. Orders to destroy the guns and embark for home were received on 5 June. The battery was home eight days later.25


Elsewhere the Gunners had also played their parts in the doomed campaign. When Sickleforce – 148 Brigade with only two battalions – landed near Åndalsnes the Germans deployed a force from Oslo to relieve Trondheim, which 148 Brigade turned south to meet. Following tough fighting in deep snow, 148 Brigade had to retreat. To their assistance came 15 Brigade with 260 AA and 168 LAA Batteries, which linked up with 148 Brigade by 21 April. At Otta, Sickleforce came under sustained aerial attack on the 25th; three of 168 LAA Battery’s Bofors shot down three enemy aircraft. However, a direct hit on one Bofors killed or wounded the detachment members and knocked out the gun. Before long the other guns had also been knocked out but the trio had put up ‘a splendid effort against superior odds’.26


When Sickleforce was evacuated from Namsos on the nights of 2 and 3 May, some 9,000 men and most of 15 Brigade were saved. By then Allied efforts were concentrated on the one area where some success had been achieved: Narvik. French troops made contact with the Germans at Lake Storvatn, having reached the high ground overlooking the town across the Beisfjord. The Chasseurs Alpins’ morale was boosted considerably when a section of 203 Field Battery joined with their two 25-pounder Mk IIs. The Battery’s guns, and a troop of 3 LAA Battery, played a key role in the capture of Narvik by destroying a determined German counter-attack. These were, as noted in Chapter One, the first 25-pounders to see action.27


The principal Allied attack on Narvik was launched on 17 May by a force including Norwegian, British, French and Polish troops. The Poles relieved the Chasseurs Alpins to attack Beisfjord while 1st and 2nd Battalions of 13 Demi-Brigade Légion étrangère landed north of the town. A German counter-attack met withering fire from 203 Field Battery’s 25-pounders and the guns of 2nd Troop 3 LAA Battery, operating under French control. The Gunner efforts did much to persuade the Germans to abandon their attack. The Luftwaffe also attacked French positions at Bjervik during which 2nd Troop 3 LAA Battery shot down one attacker. The 25-pounders of 203 Battery moved to support the Poles as their brigade attacked Ankenes on the night of the 27th, an attack also supported by Royal Navy ships. The operation was successful and on the 28th Narvik was in Allied hands.


There had been a German move to support their troops at Narvik which involved some of those troops now released from the south following the Allied evacuation moving towards Narvik. To counter this, a British blocking force was despatched to Mö. Consisting of 1st Scots Guards with a troop of 203 Battery, a Bofors troop of three guns from 55th LAA Regiment and a detachment of 230 Field Company Royal Engineers, this little force advanced to Stein to await the approaching Germans. At 6.30pm on the 17th the Germans attacked. Although outnumbered, the Gunners and Guards held their line. Command of the force, now dubbed Scissorsforce, was assumed by Brigadier C McV Gubbins who eventually ordered a withdrawal to Viskiskoia. Here, again, Scissorsforce engaged the enemy and, again, was forced to retire. Reforming at Pothus in bitterly cold conditions, Gunners and infantry once more stood in the path of the enemy advance. Reinforced by additional infantry and renamed Stockforce, but still commanded by Brigadier Gubbins, the intention was to hold the enemy in the Saltdalen valley.


The 25-pounders of 203 Battery proved their worth time and time again by wreaking execution on the attackers. But the Germans had weight of numbers and air superiority on their side, as well as artillery and tanks. Their mortars and machine guns were dug in on high ground and their final assault was supported by five Heinkel He111 bombers that strafed the infantry positions. At the same time the infantry assault went in and the ‘British 25-pounders and Norwegian mortars caused many casualties as the enemy rushed over the bridge, hurling grenades’.28 Such was the pressure of the German attack, with its armour, artillery and air support, that another withdrawal was necessary, this time to Bodö for evacuation. On 31 May, the 25-pounder detachments had the sad duty of destroying their equipments before embarking for Harstad. By 7 June the expeditionary force had quit Norway. The campaign was over but the Gunners had acquitted themselves well and taken a deadly toll of their enemy.


The failure of the Allied campaign in central Norway was a factor in what became known as the ‘Norway debate’ in the House of Commons which led to the resignation of Neville Chamberlain and Winston Churchill’s appointment as Prime Minister. Churchill assumed office on 10 May, the very day on which the Wehrmacht attacked the Low Countries.


The BEF’s artillery was emplaced along the Franco-Belgian frontier when the German attack came. Those positions, part of the Gort Line, prepared carefully and with much sweat, were abandoned as the BEF moved into Belgium to meet the Germans. Once again it proved an unequal struggle and, with French armies crumbling, the BEF retreated to the Channel coast, eventually to be evacuated through several ports, most famously Dunkirk. The battle that followed the German attack lasted for twenty-eight days and fell into four phases, although these cannot be defined sharply, merging as they did into each other. In phase one, the BEF advanced to the Dyle river in Belgium, deploying between Louvain and Wavre. Then came the battles to defend that line, followed by withdrawal, via intermediate positions on the Senne and Dendre rivers, to the Escaut river; this was the second phase. The vital role played by the Royal Artillery is demonstrated by the comment of 3rd Division’s GOC, Major General Bernard Montgomery, that ‘it was entirely due to the Gunners that the 3rd Division was able to get away from Louvain successfully in May’.29 Phase three came with the Germans isolating the northern group of Allied armies, including the BEF, in the Dunkirk perimeter. The final phase was the evacuation itself. With hindsight one can make such an analysis; it is doubtful if anyone on the ground saw things quite so clearly in May 1940.


For those who served through the campaign it seemed to be a series of battles and skirmishes fought by divisions, brigades and even battalions reacting to enemy action as best they could while trying to conform to corps and army commanders’ orders. There is no more difficult manoeuvre than to retreat in the face of a superior enemy force. It calls for much courage and resolution, not least from the artillery who were often called on to cover their comrades in rearguard actions, engaging German troops over open sights. That they did their duty well is one of the reasons the BEF was extricated successfully from France; but the cost was heavy.


The Gunners’ part in the campaign was great,




for they remained constantly in action, changing their allegiances frequently as they covered first one and then another formation in the confusion of the retreat which it rapidly became. The Gunners did, however, enable General Gort and his corps, divisional and brigade commanders to retain a battle framework around which they could act. Without this even greater confusion would have resulted. They provided the long-range firepower. Thus they had the job of holding the advancing enemy at bay while the rest of the Army withdrew. This job fell mainly to the field and anti-tank Gunners but the mediums and the heavies played their part while all the time the anti-aircraft batteries did their best to keep the Junkers, Heinkels, Messerschmitts and Dorniers from causing too much damage. It was a campaign of great speed, emergency following emergency, where orders were out of date as soon as given and where there was constant confusion. The Germans were better and more professional in almost every sphere and ruthlessly followed the principles of war.30





For all their skill and professionalism, the Germans never once managed to break the BEF’s front.31 Had they done so, the story of the campaign might have been very different. That they did not do so owes much to the Gunners. The story of Dunkirk may be one of defeat but the story of the Gunners in that campaign is one of success: in Farndale’s words ‘a story of victory in defeat’ and ‘one of which the Regiment may be justifiably proud’.32 We may see that story of victory in defeat through the actions of a number of Gunner units as they served their guns in the BEF’s retreat.


When the German attack was launched on 10 May, Lieutenant Colonel Jack Parham’s 10th Field Regiment was training well behind the Gort Line but its batteries – 30/46 and 51/54 – were in front-line positions by the 13th. Within thirty-six hours their guns were harassing enemy troops and, next day, were engaging attacking infantry. During the evening of 15 May Parham’s regiment put paid to a significant number of enemy tanks that must have considered themselves safely concealed in a wood. In his own account of this incident, Jack Parham recalled that




I was rung up from the right OP, overlooking Wavre, by M who said his lookout man (actually his signaller) had spotted Boche tanks camouflaging themselves on our side of a wood. The inference was that if some were there, there were probably lots more inside so I ordered a regimental concentration, all exactly as per miniature range, and at zero hour, some ten minutes later, we put 500 rounds at rate intense into the wood without any preliminary ranging. It was a grand crash and excited chuckles down the OP wire confirmed that we had struck a winner. That wood blazed for several hours with big black columns of smoke indicating petrol fires. A good effort on the part of an alert OP.33





The regimental concentration – all twenty-four guns firing simultaneously – caught a German tank battalion refuelling and inflicted heavy loss in vehicles and personnel. According to Bidwell, this




was the first fully predicted, radio-controlled concentration on an opportunity target ever fired by the Royal Artillery in war. This lesson Parham, who was to become a brigadier, and the CRA of 38th Division the following year, took back to England with him.34





Not every regiment could deploy all its guns at once and there were many instances of actions by batteries, troops and sections. Even single-gun actions were fought to delay the enemy’s inexorable advance. These smaller actions led to some spectacular battles and perhaps none more so than that at the Belgian village of Hondeghem on 27 May involving F Troop K Battery Royal Horse Artillery.


Hondeghem, midway between Cassel and Hazebrouck, lay on a main line of advance for the Germans and it was vital that they be delayed there as long as possible. The sole forces available were K Battery, with Mk II 18-pounders, modernised with pneumatic-tyred road wheels, and a detachment of an officer and eighty men of 2nd Searchlight Regiment. F Troop ‘was pulled out of the huge convoy travelling along the main road … by Brigadier Somerset’. The Troop Sergeant Major, TSM Ralph Opie, was ‘given the task of commencing the deployment of the Troop in an anti-tank role in and around the village’.35 Major Rawdon Hoare, commanding K Battery, charged F Troop, under Captain Brian Teacher, with four 18-pounders, some Bren and Lewis machine guns and Boys anti-tank rifles, with defending the village; there was also a small Battery HQ under BSM Millard. Roads into Hondeghem were blocked and two guns, I and J Sub-Sections, were deployed on the outskirts while the other two were in the village square. The guns were in position on the afternoon of the 26th and the evening passed without incident.36


Next morning, at 7.30, the Germans appeared and were engaged by the guns on the edge of the village. It was an uneven struggle and although the guns knocked out several enemy vehicles and two or three tanks they were overrun. I Sub-Section was hit and knocked out by a panzer at ninety yards’ range at which stage enemy infantry supported by tanks moved out to the left. TSM Opie, with J Sub-Section, ordered his Bren gunners to engage these troops. Their fire caused many casualties amongst the attackers before a panzer closed on J Sub-Section, engaging its target with its machine gun and killing the gun’s Number 2 and hitting the 18-pounder with its main armament. Another member of the detachment was killed while Opie and Gunner Reginald Manning were wounded, the latter ‘very badly … around the head and chest’.37 Manning suffered further wounds to both legs from small-arms fire but remained at his post. Opie tried to get the gun back into action by dragging the dead Number 2 from his seat only to find that the sights had been smashed. With Manning close to death but refusing to move, Opie ‘was forced to push him down between the shield and his seat to get him out’, although ‘he still insisted he was all right and wanted to go back to his position’.38 I Sub-Section engaged the tank just before being knocked out. Finally, German infantry dashed forward to capture the surviving members of J Sub. By remaining at their posts, Opie and Manning had demonstrated courage in the highest traditions of the Royal Artillery.39 Manning died in captivity.40


The destruction of I and J Subs allowed the Germans to advance into Hondeghem where the other two guns opened fire at close range, hitting and destroying vehicle after vehicle. Thus began a battle that lasted eight hours. The Germans tried to establish machine-gun posts in the upper floors of nearby buildings but were countered by Gunners blasting them out. At one stage a German machine gun was brought into action in the building on the edge of the main square which was being used as the battery cookhouse. L Sub-Section manhandled their gun into a new position and fired through a window into the cookhouse. One round was sufficient to silence the machine gun, the remains of which became a valued trophy for the Battery. The building was also set on fire. There was one note of regret: breakfast had been destroyed.41
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